IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,074

FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 28 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

By__

CHESTER MAXWELL,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA CONFLICT CERTIFIED

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Tierney & Haughwout Attorney for Petitioner 324 Datura Street, Suite 250 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 655-7601 Telephone: Fla. Bar No. 375675

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, CHESTER MAXWELL, is the defendant in the trial court. The Respondent, State of Florida, was the Petitioner in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as "MAXWELL" and "State" or Petitioner and Respondent throughout this brief.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, CHESTER MAXWELL, was indicted on October 15, 1980 for first degree murder and three counts of robbery. (R-46-48). He was convicted and sentenced to death on the capital charge. On June 25, 1992, this Court granted a habeas petition, vacating the death sentence, and remanding for a new sentencing hearing. (R-50-58); <u>Maxwell v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1992).

In May, 1993 the Petitioner filed three motions concerning the admissibility of victim impact evidence: Motion to Prohibit Application of Chapter 92-81 as an <u>Ex Post Facto</u> Law (R-222-226); Motion to Exclude Victim Impact Evidence and Argument and/or to Declare Section 921.141(7) Florida Statutes Unlawful and Unconstitutional and/or to Declare Section 921.141 Florida Statutes Unlawful and Unconstitutional (R-227-245); Motion to Limit Presentation and Argument of Victim Impact Evidence to Judge Only (R-246-250).¹

The trial court heard argument of counsel on these matters on June 4, 1993. (R-1-36). During the hearing, the court expressed several concerns as to how to constitutionally apply Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes. Specifically, the court was concerned as to what the jury was supposed to do with victim impact evidence; what the State's burden of proof

¹ As a result of the trial court's ruling on the constitutionality of Sec. 921.141(7), F.S., this motion was not ruled upon.

was in presenting the evidence; how the court was to instruct the jury to consider this evidence; and how the court was to weigh victim impact evidence in the final sentencing decision. (R-5-6). The court also indicated its concern that the legislature was implying that the death of certain victims, depending on their social status, was more heinous than the death of other citizens. (R-6).

The State argued in the trial court that the jury should be told to give victim impact evidence "what worth it deserves" and that such evidence should be considered, not as an aggravator, but as some other evidence in reaching a decision as to their recommendation to the court. (R-15, 17). The State further argued that the court, in making the final sentencing determination, can use the victim impact for "whatever use you want to make of it." (R-18).

On June 7, 1993 the court announced its intention to hold the victim impact statute unconstitutional. (R-39). Thereafter, the court entered its written Order Declaring Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes Unconstitutional. (R-261-283). The court concluded that the statute interfered with the jury weighing process rendering it arbitrary and capricious; that the statute lacked guidance to the judge on weighing victim impact evidence relevant to mitigating factors; that it precluded the introduction of mitigating evidence; that it violated the separation of powers doctrine by delegating judicial power reserved to the Supreme Court;

and that the statute violated Art. I, §10 of the Florida Constitution prohibiting the legislature from passing <u>ex post</u> <u>facto</u> laws. (R-281-282).

The State filed a Notice of Appeal. The Fourth District Court of Appeal treated the appeal as a Petition for Writ of Certiorari and on August 10, 1994 the court granted certiorari and quashed the trial court's order declaring unconstitutional the victim impact statute. On January 18, 1995 the court denied the Appellant's Motion for Rehearing but certified, as a question of great public importance, the following:

Is Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes, allowing victim impact evidence unconstitutional?

This appeal follows.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly ruled that Section 921.141(7), F.S., which permits introduction of victim impact evidence capital sentencing in а proceeding is unconstitutional. The victim impact legislation gives the jury and judge unguided discretion to impose the death penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner. Victim impact evidence inconsistent, unprincipled and arbitrary encourages application of the death penalty. The statute which permits introduction of such evidence is violative of Article I, Sections 9, 17 and 21 of the Florida Constitution and the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution.

The victim impact legislation is vague, overbroad and incapable of a clear and understandable application. The statute lends itself to application in a discriminatory manner, both against victims and defendants. Consequently the statute is also violative of the due process protections of the Florida and United States Constitution.

Furthermore, the <u>ex post facto</u> protections of the United States and Florida Constitutions prohibits application of the victim impact statute to the instant prosecution. Finally, the victim impact statute infringes upon the exclusive right of the Florida Supreme Court to regulate practice and procedure, and is therefore unconstitutional in violation of Art. V, §2 of the Florida Constitution.

IV. ARGUMENT

SECTION 921.141(7), FLORIDA STATUTES, WHICH PERMITS INTRODUCTION OF VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE IN A CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDING IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

A. SECTION 921.141, F.S., PROVIDING FOR THE ADMISSION OF VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE IN A CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDING IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS IT LEAVES JUDGE AND JURY WITH UNGUIDED DISCRETION ALLOWING FOR IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY IN AN ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS MANNER.

Effective July 1, 1992, the Florida Legislature enacted Florida Statute 921.141 (7), part of the Florida capital sentencing statute. This section provides:

> VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE. Once the prosecution has provided evidence of the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances as described in subsection (5), the prosecution may introduce and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resulting loss to the communities' members by the victim's death. Characterization and opinions about the crime, the defendant and the appropriate sentences shall not be permitted as a part of the victim impact.

This statute was enacted in response to the United States Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991), wherein the Court held that the Eighth Amendment does not erect a <u>per se</u> bar prohibiting a capital sentencing jury from considering "victim impact" evidence. To that extent, the decisions in <u>Booth v.</u> <u>Maryland</u>, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S. Ct. 2529, 96 L. Ed. 2d 440 (1987) and <u>South Carolina v. Gathers</u>, 490 U.S. 805, 109 S. Ct. 2207, 104 L. Ed. 2d 876 (1989), were overruled. However, as noted by the trial court, by enacting this statute "The Florida Legislature responded to <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, <u>supra</u>, without giving full consideration to the statute's constitutional impact on the Florida capital sentencing procedure set forth in Chapter 921.141, Florida Statutes." (R-280).

The sentencing scheme provided in Florida law is unlike the law reviewed by the Court in <u>Payne</u> in that Florida is a "weighing" state: In other words, the law requires a jury and then a judge to weigh specifically enumerated and defined aggravating circumstances that have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt against mitigating circumstances in determining the appropriate sentence. Section 921.141, Florida Statutes. The law reviewed by the Court in <u>Payne</u> set no such limits. Unlike Florida, Tennessee's capital sentencing law is very broad:

> In the sentencing proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that relevant Court deems to the the punishment and may include but not be limited to, the nature and circumstances of character, the crime; the defendant's physical background history, and evidence tending condition; any to aggravating establish rebut the or circumstances enumerated...

T.C.A. 39-13-204 (c) (1982) (emphasis added).²

² It is also noteworthy that Tennessee requires a unanimous verdict of the jury to recommend death; Florida requires only a bare majority.

Section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes, specifically limits the prosecution to the aggravating circumstances listed in the statute: "AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES. Aggravating circumstances <u>shall be limited</u> to the following..." (emphasis added). Accord, <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 998, 1002-1003 (Fla. 1977); <u>Provence v. State</u>, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976). The consideration of matters not relevant to aggravating factors renders a death sentence under Florida law violative of the Eighth Amendment. <u>Sochor v. Florida</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 112 S. Ct. 2114, 117 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1992); <u>Stringer v. Black</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 112 S. Ct. 1130, 117 L. Ed. 2d 367 (1992). In <u>Sochor</u>, the Court explains:

> In a weighing state like Florida, there is Eighth Amendment error when the sentencer weighs an "invalid" aggravating circumstance in reaching the ultimate decision to impose a death sentence. See Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 752, 110 S. Ct. 1441, 1450, 108 L. Ed. 2d 725 (1990). Employing an invalid aggravating factor in the weighing process "creates the possibility...of randomness," Stringer v. Black, 508 U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 1130, 1139, 117 L. Ed. 2d 367 (1992) by placing a "thumb [on] death's side of the scale," <u>id</u>., at 112 s.ct. at 1137, thus "creat[ing] the risk [of] treat[ing] the defendant as more deserving of the death penalty," <u>id</u>., at , 112 S.Ct. at 1139.

<u>Sochor</u>, 112 S.Ct. at 2119.

The Fourth District ruled that victim impact evidence is not an aggravating factor in death sentencing. The court agreed that the jury's consideration of personal qualities of a victim is prohibited unless otherwise relevant. However, the court ruled that such evidence is relevant, as it informs the jury or the court of the particular harm caused. Although the court recognized that "the particular harm caused" is neither an aggravating or mitigating circumstance, the court found that it is "other evidence, which is not required to be weighed against, or offset by, statutory factors." <u>State v. Maxwell</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1706 (Fla. 4th DCA August 10, 1994).

With all due respect, the Fourth District opinion is contrary to twenty years of death penalty jurisprudence in A sentencing hearing requires a jury to hear this state. evidence and determine whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist, as specifically enumerated in Section 921.141(5), F.S., and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh the aggravating circumstances found to exist. Based on these considerations, the jury must then advise the court whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment. Section 921.141(2), F.S.. Subsequent case law has made it abundantly clear that the only evidence relevant in a death penalty proceeding is evidence that tends to establish the existence of either an aggravating circumstance or a mitigating circumstance.

In <u>Miller v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1979), the court noted:

Strict application of the sentencing statute is necessary because the

sentencing authority's discretion must be "guided and channeled" by requiring an examination of specific factors that argue in favor of or against imposition of the death penalty, thus eliminating total arbitrariness and capriciousness in its imposition.

Miller at 885 (citations omitted).

In <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977), the Supreme Court noted:

We must guard against any authorized aggravating factor going into the equation which might tip the scales of the weighing process in favor of death.

Elledge at 1003.

Petitioner asserts that the lower court's opinion, finding "other evidence" relevant to the sentencing determination, renders the capital proceeding random and arbitrary as there is no means of guiding and channelling the sentencing authorities discretion with such evidence.

The concern with randomness and arbitrary sentencing procedures, has been the underlying theme of the Supreme Court's death penalty decisions. In <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1972), the Supreme Court held that the death penalty could not be imposed under the sentencing procedures in effect because of the substantial risk that it would be inflicted in an arbitrary and capricious manner as a result of unbridled discretion. Several years later, in reviewing the Florida statute, the Supreme Court upheld the constitutionality of the death penalty finding that the statutory scheme "seeks to assure that the death penalty

will not be imposed in an arbitrary or capricious manner." Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 2967, 49 L. Ed. 2d 913 (1976). Rather, "trial judges are given specific and detailed guidance to assist them in deciding whether to impose a death penalty or imprisonment for life." 96 S.Ct. at 2967. Furthermore, the Supreme Court found that the appellate review guaranteed by the Florida sentencing scheme ensured consistency with other sentences imposed and therefore "it is no longer true that there is 'no meaningful basis for distinguishing the few cases in which [the death penalty] is imposed from the many cases in which it is not.'" Gregg v. <u>Georgia</u>, 428 U.S. at 188, 96 S.Ct. at 2932, 49 L. Ed. 2d 809 (1976) quoting Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. at 313, 92 S.Ct. at 2764 (WHITE, J. concurring.)" Proffitt, 96 S.Ct. at 2967. The Supreme Court held that the Florida Statute thus satisfies the constitutional infirmities identified in Furman. In so holding, the Supreme Court found:

> That legislation [Sec. 921.141, F.S.] provides that after a person is convicted of first degree murder, there shall be an informed, focused, guided, and objective inquiry into the question of whether he should be sentenced to death. If a death sentence is imposed, the sentencing authority articulates in writing the statutory reasons that led to its decision. Those reasons and the evidence supporting them, are conscientiously reviewed by a Court which, because of its statewide jurisdiction, can assure consistency, fairness, and rationality in the evenhanded operation of the state

<u>law</u>... [T]his system serves to assure that sentences of death will not be 'wantonly' or 'freakishly' imposed."

96 S.Ct. 2970 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In the present case, the trial court reviewed the aforementioned Supreme Court decisions, and found that "the introduction of `victim impact' evidence will result in the arbitrary and capricious results and the random imposition of the death penalty, which was decried by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, <u>supra</u>." (R-282).

The trial court's concerns were discussed in the hearing on this matter:

THE COURT: Alright. What are we supposed to instruct the jury to do with this information?

In other words, in every instance if we have a person who is a productive member of society and a family person which, believe it or not, many people are.

You may not see it here but most people are. So, we are dealing with a common type of victim who is a family person and a productive member of society and who has loved ones who will miss him or her, children whose life will be saddened. What is the jury supposed to do with this?

In other words, I as a judge, what am I supposed to tell them what to do with this?

PROSECUTOR: You tell them the State has to prove the aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt but not as an aggravating circumstance, this additional victim impact evidence just as you would consider it.

THE COURT: Consider it how?

PROSECUTOR: <u>To give it what worth it deserves</u>, if any.

(R-15) (emphasis added).

* * *

PROSECUTOR: Well, Your Honor, what you could do is say, ladies and gentlemen, the State has to prove aggravating circumstances.

> If they prove aggravating circumstances, you must make a determination if there is, you know, mitigating circumstances, see if the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances.

> If they don't you can tell them in your own instruction they never get up to the victim impact stuff, but once the aggravating circumstances outweigh any mitigating circumstances, they can consider, you know, victim impact not as an aggravator but <u>as some</u> <u>other evidence in reaching a decision</u> as to how they want to make a recommendation to the Court.

(R-17) (emphasis added).

* * *

THE COURT: Alright.

The next step then is assuming then just for the sake of argument, the jury recommends the death penalty. It then falls on me to independently make determinations of whether the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt the aggravators and whether or not any evidence of mitigators are established.

The question is, based on the case-law that I have seen, what is the judge supposed to do with this now? In other words, I have to make the ultimate decision and I have to hand out a written opinion, contemporaneously with the sentence stating why I am doing this. Where does all this fit in?

PROSECUTOR: Alright.

You would do the same thing just as if there was no victim impact evidence before you. You would weigh and see if there is any aggravating circumstances to prove beyond a reasonable doubt what the mitigating is (sic) and you make that determination.

If you say, hey, there is one, two, or three aggravating, but it is outweighed by the mitigating, you never have to get up to the victim impact.

You make the same kind of legal determinations and factual determinations as the jury is making and <u>you use the victim impact for</u> <u>whatever use you want to make of it.</u>

(R-18) (emphasis added).

The exchange with the State Attorney highlights the very problem inherent in this statute: that is, where does victim impact evidence factor into the sentencing determination? In the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, the State claimed that victim impact evidence is not to be weighed it is merely to be considered. The Fourth District apparently agreed holding that victim impact evidence is not "required"³ to be weighed in the consideration of the statutory factors. However, it is the very consideration of factors not inherent in the weighing process that has caused the reversal of several death sentences.

In <u>Burns v. State</u>, 609 So.2d. 600 (Fla. 1992), this Court reversed a death sentence where evidence was introduced concerning the deceased's background and character as a law

³ It is unclear whether the court is ruling that such evidence \underline{could} be weighed but is not required to be weighed.

enforcement officer. The Court held that it was harmless error as it related to the guilt phase but found it to be reversible error as it related to the penalty phase. Specifically, this Court held it was <u>not relevant to any</u> <u>material fact in issue</u>. It is particularly noteworthy that <u>Burns</u> was decided after <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>. Similarly, in <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Supreme Court reversed for a new penalty phase due to a prosecutor making an argument designed to invoke sympathy for the deceased. 583 So.2d at 329-330. The Court relied on its prior opinion in <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988), in which it held such argument to be improper "because it urged consideration of factors outside the scope of the jury's deliberation." 522 So.2d 809.

In the present case the Fourth District ruled that victim impact evidence was <u>not</u> a non-statutory aggravator. However, this court has previously ruled that such evidence is a non-statutory aggravator and, as such, is an inappropriate consideration in the sentencing determination:

> Florida's death penalty statute, Section 921.141, limits the aggravating circumstances on which a sentence of death maybe imposed to the circumstances listed in the statute. **§921.141 (5)**. <u>impact</u> <u>of the murder on family</u> <u>The</u> members and friends is not one of these aggravating circumstances. Thus, victim <u>impact is a non-statutory aggravating</u> circumstance which would not be an appropriate circumstance on which to base <u>a death sentence.</u> <u>Blair v. State</u>, 406

So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1981); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1979); <u>Riley v.</u> <u>State</u>, 366 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1978).

Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988) (emphasis added).

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