FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 4 1995

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85-074

CHESTER MAXWELL.

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA QUESTION CERTIFIED

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAROLYN V. MCCANN Special Assistant Attorney General Attorney for Respondent 201 SE 6th Street Suite 675 Ft. Lauderdale, Fl 33301 (305) 831-7913 Fla. Bar No. 380393

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State maintains the constitutionality of §921.141(7), Florida Statutes. Recent precedents of both this Court and the United States Supreme Court clearly hold that victim impact evidence is both relevant to capital sentencing determinations, and that such evidence is constitutionally permissible if authorized under state law. Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes, is just such a law.

Victim impact evidence is not an aggravating circumstance and is not weighed in reaching a sentence. However, it does provide the sentencer with a context in which to place the Defendant's crime. It has long been the law of this State that evidence may be admitted for the purpose of placing the crime in context even though it does not directly prove an aggravating factor. Such evidence does not create a non-statutory aggravating factor and may be properly received.

The State would also argue that subsection (7) is not vague or overbroad, that it does not violate due process, or this Court's exclusive right to regulate practice and procedure. Furthermore, §921.141(7), Florida Statutes is merely evidentiary in nature and as such, it may be properly applied to the case at hand without violating ex post facto principles.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT SECTION 921.141(7), FLORIDA STATUTES, WHICH PERMITS THE INTRODUCTION OF VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE IN A CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEEDING, IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

The State maintains that the Fourth District Court of Appeals correctly found Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes, constitutional. As this Court is well-aware, the legislative amendment to §921.141, Florida Statutes, is presumed to be constitutional and the legislature is presumed to have intended a constitutional result. Sandlin v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission, 531 So.2d 1344, 1346 (Fla. 1988). Moreover, courts will avoid declaring a statute unconstitutional if such statute can be fairly construed in a constitutional manner. Id. Such a construction is possible herein. Indeed, Florida law as well as public policy require that this Court find Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes constitutional.

Florida's death penalty statute was originally passed in 1972, and was codified in §921.141, Florida Statutes. Despite various attacks on the statute, the constitutionality of the statute as a whole has been repeatedly upheld by this Court and the United States Supreme Court. See Watson v. State, 19 FLW S564 (Fla. November 3, 1994); Wournos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1993); Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 1993); Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1992); Ragsdale v. State, 609 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1992); State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Proffit v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976).

As part of §921.141(1), the Legislature set forth the following standard for the admission of evidence in the penalty proceedings:

In the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant and shall include matters relating to any of the aggravating or mitigating circumstances enumerated in subsections (5) and (6). Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements. However, this subsection shall not be construed to authorize the introduction of any evidence secured in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of Florida.

(Emphasis added)

This section has been consistently interpreted by this Court to allow the sentencer, both the jury and the judge, to hear evidence "which will aid it in understanding the facts of the case in order that it may render an appropriate advisory sentence," Teffeteller v. State, 495 So. 2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986), or which will allow the sentencer "to engage in a character analysis of the defendant to ascertain whether the ultimate penalty is called for in his or her particular case." Elledge v. State, 346 So. 2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1977). Thus, for example, in Teffeteller, supra, this Court allowed in evidence in a sentencing hearing a crime scene photograph of the victim, although the photograph was not specifically relevant to any of the aggravating circumstances (i.e., under sentence of imprisonment, prior violent felonies, and during the commission of a robbery). This Court stated that "we cannot expect jurors impaneled for capital sentencing proceedings to make wise and reasonable decisions in a vacuum." Id. 744.

In 1984, the Florida Legislature amended §921.143, Florida Statutes (1984), to allow at a sentencing hearing, or prior to the imposition of sentence upon any defendant who has been convicted of a felony, the victim or next of kin to appear before the sentencing court to provide a statement concerning "the extent of any harm, including social, psychological, or physical

harm, financial losses, and loss of earnings directly or indirectly resulting from the crime for which the defendant is being sentenced." Victim's rights were further strengthened in Florida, when in 1988, the people amended Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution to include that "(b) victims of crime or their lawful representatives, including the next of kin of homicide victims, are entitled to the right ... to be heard when relevant, at all crucial stages of criminal proceedings, to the extent that these rights do not interfere with the constitutional rights of the accused."

In 1987, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed. 2d 440 (1987), and again in 1989 in <u>South Carolina v. Gathers</u>, 490 U.S. 805, 109 S.Ct. 2207, 104 L.Ed. 2d 876 (1989), held that the Eighth Amendment prohibited a jury from considering and a prosecutor from arguing a victim impact statement or the personal qualities of the victim at the sentencing phase of a capital trial, unless such evidence related directly to the circumstances of the crime. Following the dictates of <u>Booth</u> and <u>Gathers</u>, this Court subsequently held that despite §921.143(2), the Legislature could not permit victim impact evidence "as an <u>aggravating factor</u> in death sentencing." <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 833, 843 (Fla. 1988).

In 1991, the United States Supreme Court overruled its prior decisions in <u>Booth</u> and <u>Gathers</u> in <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed. 2d 720 (1991), and held:

We thus hold that if the State chooses to permit the admission of victim impact evidence and prosecutorial argument on that subject, the Eighth Amendment erects no per se bar. A State may legitimately conclude that evidence about the victim and about the impact of the murder on the victim's family is relevant to the jury's decision as to whether or not the death penalty should be

imposed. There is no reason to treat such evidence differently than other relevant evidence is treated.

The <u>Payne</u> Court specifically stated that "the decisions... were wrongly decided and should be, and now are, overruled." <u>Payne</u>, <u>supra</u> at 2611. The Court explained that sentencing a criminal defendant involves factors which relate both to the subjective guilt of the defendant and to the harm caused by his acts:

'We have held that a State cannot preclude the sentencer from considering 'any relevant mitigating evidence' that the defendant proffers in support of a sentence less than death.' Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 114, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed. 2d 1 (1982). See also Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1, 106 S.Ct. 1669, 90 L.Ed. 2d 1 (1986). Thus we have, as the Court observed in Booth, required that the capital defendant be treated as a "uniquely individual human bein{g}," 482 U.S., at 504, 107 S.Ct., at 2534 (quoting Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S., at 304, 96 S.Ct., at 2991). But it was never held or even suggested in any of our cases preceding Booth that the defendant, entitled as he was to individualized consideration, was to receive that consideration wholly apart from the crime which he had committed. The language quoted from Woodson in the Booth opinion was not intended to describe a class of evidence that could not be received, but a class of evidence which must be received. Any doubt on the matter is dispelled by comparing the language in Woodson with the language from Gregg v. Georgia, quoted above, which was handed down the same day as Woodson. This misreading of precedent in Booth has, we think, unfairly weighted the scales in a capital trial; while virtually no limits are placed on the relevant mitigating evidence a capital defendant may introduce concerning his own circumstances, the State is barred from either offering 'a glimpse of the life' which a defendant 'chose to extinguish,' Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S., 367, 397, 108 S.Ct. 1860,

1876, 100 L.Ed 2d 384 (1988) (REHNQUIST, C.J., dissenting), or demonstrating the loss to the victim's family and to society which have resulted from the defendant's homicide.

(Emphasis added). Id. at 2606, 2607.

The Court ruled that evidence of the specific harm caused by a defendant presented in the form of victim impact evidence, could be admitted by state courts subject, of course, to evidentiary rulings by a state trial court:

> 'Within the constitution limitations defined by our cases, the States enjoy their traditional latitude to prescribe the method by which those who commit murder should be punished.' Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 494 U.S. 299, 309, 110 S.Ct. 1078, , 108 L.Ed. 2d 255 (1990). The States remain free, in capital cases, as well as others, to devise new procedures and new remedies to meet felt needs. Victim impact evidence is simply another form or method of informing the sentencing authority about the specific harm caused by the crime in question, evidence of a general type long considered by sentencing authorities. We think the Booth Court was wrong in stating that this kind of evidence leads to the arbitrary imposition of the death penalty. In the majority of cases, and in this case, victim impact evidence serves entirely legitimate purposes. In the event that evidence is introduced that is so unduly prejudicial that it renders the trial fundamentally unfair, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides a mechanism for relief. See Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 179-183, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2470-2472, 91 L.Ed. 2d 144 (1986).

(Emphasis added). Id. at 2608.

The Court concluded that juries should hear all relevant evidence, before sentencing a defendant for first degree murder:

We are now of the view that a State may properly conclude that for the jury to assess meaningfully the defendant's moral culpability and blameworthiness, it should have before it at the sentencing phase evidence of the specific harm caused by the defendant. '{T}he State has a legitimate interest in counteracting

the mitigating evidence which the defendant is entitled to put in, by reminding the sentencer that just as the murderer should be considered as an individual, so too the victim is an individual whose death represents a unique loss to society and in particular to his family.' Booth, 482 U.S., at 517, 107 S.Ct. at 2540 (WHITE, J., dissenting) (citation omitted). By turning the victim into a 'faceless stranger at the penalty phase of a capital trial,' Gathers, 490 U.S., at 821, 109 S.Ct. at 2216 (O'CONNOR, J., dissenting), Booth deprives the State of the full moral force of its evidence and may prevent the jury from having before it all the information necessary to determine the proper punishment for a first-degree murder.

Id. at 2608.

In 1992, the Florida Legislature amended §921.141 as follows:

(7) Victim impact evidence - Once the prosecutor has provided evidence of the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances as described in subsection (5), the prosecution may introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

This legislation was prompted by the United States Supreme Court's decision in Payne v. Tennessee and reflects Florida's decision to allow the presentation of victim impact evidence pursuant to Payne. This legislation was originally proposed in Senate Bill 362 which was entitled "an act relating to capital felonies; amending \$921.141 and \$921.142, Florida Statutes; providing for the admission of victim impact evidence in certain proceedings on the issue of penalty; providing an effective date." Attached hereto in the Appendix as Exhibit "B" is the legislative history and Senate staff analysis of S.362 which cites Payne. As noted previously, it is presumed that the Legislature intended to reach a constitutional result. Sandlin, supra. The State submits that the Legislature's enactment of Chapter 92-81 as codified in \$921.141, Florida

Statutes, was a legitimate and constitutional response to the Payne decision.

Although this Court has never expressly ruled upon the constitutionality of Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes, this Court has recognized the admissibility of victim evidence in light of Payne v. Tennessee. As noted by the Fourth District, this Court in Hodges v. State, 595 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1992), held that victim impact evidence is admissible in the sentencing phase except, as set out in the statute, for characterizations and opinions by family members about the crime, the defendant or the appropriate sentence. Id. at 933. This Court held:

Hodges also argues that allowing testimony about the victim's prosecuting him for indecent exposure and his attempts to dissuade her from doing so, the victim's sister's breaking down in tears while testifying, and the prosecutor's closing argument violated Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed. 2d 876 (1989). Recently, however, the United States Supreme Court held that

if the State chooses to permit the admission of victim impact evidence and prosecutorial argument on that subject, the Eighth Amendment erects no per se bar. A State may legitimately conclude that evidence about the victim and about the impact of the murder on the victim's family is relevant to the jury's decision as to whether or not the death penalty should be imposed. There is no reason to treat such evidence differently than other relevant evidence is treated.

Payne v. Tennessee, U.S. , 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2609, 115 L.Ed. 2d 720 (1991). In so holding the Court receded from the holdings in <u>Booth</u> and <u>Gathers</u> that 'evidence and argument relating to the victim and the impact of the victim's death on the victim's are inadmissible at a capital sentencing hearing.' <u>Id</u>. at 2611 n. 2. The only part of <u>Booth</u> not overruled by <u>Payne</u> is 'that the admission of a victim's family members' characterizations and

opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence violates the Eighth Amendment.' <u>Id</u>. The comments and testimony Hodges complains about are not the type of victim impact evidence that the Court did not address, i.e., is still <u>Booth</u> error, in <u>Payne</u>. Therefore, we find no merit to Hodges' <u>Booth</u> claim.

<u>Id.</u> at 939. Most recently, this Court has held that "brief humanizing remarks do not constitute grounds for reversal," citing <u>Payne</u> for the proposition that in the majority of cases, victim impact evidence serves entirely legitimate purposes. <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994).

The public policy underlying the <u>Payne</u>, decision, the passage of the amendment to § 921.141 allowing for the admission of victim impact, as well as this Court's explicit holding that the admission of victim impact evidence "serves entirely legitimate purposes" is clear: The citizens of Florida have chosen to have the victims of crime or their lawful representations be heard and they should not and cannot be ignored under the United States or Florida Constitutions. <u>See</u> Article 1, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution.

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